NO. 43748-1-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

RICHARD MICKELSON,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE
SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Thomas McPhee, Judge

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Peter B. Tiller, WSBA No. 20835
Of Attorneys for Appellant

The Tiller Law Firm
Corner of Rock and Pine
P. O. Box 58
Centralia, WA 98531
(360) 736-9301

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The prosecutor committed flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct that prejudiced the fairness of the trial.

2. The prosecution impermissibly commented on the appellant's constitutional right to remain silent.

3. The appellant received ineffective assistance by due to counsel's failure to object to the prosecutor's closing argument that impermissibly commented on the appellant's constitutional right to remain silent.

4. The cumulative effect of the claimed errors materially affected the outcome of the trial.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. A prosecutor commits flagrant and intentional misconduct depriving an accused person of a fair trial when he or she engages in repeated inflammatory and patently improper conduct. In closing argument, the prosecutor engaged in derogation of the criminal defendants and their witnesses. Did the prosecutor's improper conduct deprive the appellant of a fair trial, requiring reversal of the conviction? Assignment of Error No. 1.

2. Whether the prosecutor's impermissible comment during closing argument on the appellant's constitutional right to remain silent

constitutes prosecutorial misconduct that denied the appellant a fair trial?

Assignment of Error No. 2.

3. Whether the appellant was prejudiced as a result of his counsel's failure to object to the prosecutor's closing argument that impermissibly commented on his constitutional right to remain silent?

Assignment of Error No. 3.

4. Whether the cumulative effect of the claimed errors materially affected the outcome of the trial requiring reversal of the appellant's conviction. Assignment of Error No. 4.

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural facts:

Richard Mickelson was charged by information filed in Thurston County Superior Court with assault in the second degree, contrary to RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a). Clerk's Papers [CP] 4. The State alleged Mr. Mickelson, along with Joel Lewis, assaulted Nate Abbett early on December 23, 2011. CP 4. The State filed an amended information on May 31, 2012. CP 31-32.

The State also alleged the co-defendants were armed with a deadly weapon at the time of the offense, pursuant to RCW 9.94A.825 and 9.94A.533(3). CP 31-32.

The matter came on for jury trial on May 15, 2012, the Honorable Thomas McPhee presiding.

No objections were taken to the jury instructions were taken by defense counsel. 7 Report of Proceedings [RP] at 1286.¹ Counsel noted its exception to the court's initial failure to give a "no duty to retreat" instruction. 7RP at 1286. The judge subsequently agreed to give the instruction. 7RP at 1295; CP 49.

a. Closing argument:

To avoid repetition, the prosecutor's closing is summarized in argument 1, *infra*.

b. Verdict, enhancement, and sentence:

On June 7, 2012, the jury found Mr. Mickelson guilty of the charged offense. CP 55. It also answered "yes" to this question on the special verdict form: "[w]as the defendant Richard Allen Mickelson armed with a deadly weapon at the time of the commission of the crime in Count I?" CP 56.

¹The record of proceedings consists of eight volumes:

1RP—May 29, May 30, 2012, jury trial;

2RP—May 30, May 31, 2012, jury trial;

3RP—May 31, 2012, jury trial;

4RP—May 31, June 4, 2012, jury trial;

5RP—June 4, June 5, 2012, jury trial;

6RP—June 6, 2012, jury trial;

7RP—June 5, June 6, 2012, jury trial; and

8RP—June 6, June 7, 2012, jury trial.

The matter came on for sentencing on July 3, 2012. CP 120. The court imposed 55 months based on an offender score of “7.” CP 122, 124. Based on the special verdict, the added a 12-month enhancement to the sentence, for a total of 67 months. CP 124.

Timely notice of appeal was filed July 30, 2012. This appeal follows.

2. Testimony at trial:

The main questions for the jury were whether the appellant acted in self-defense. Nate Abbett, Richard Mickelson and Joel Lewis had an altercation early on the morning of December 23, 2011 on Angus Drive in rural Thurston County near Tenino, Washington. 1RP at 162, 2RP at 252. An aluminum baseball bat was recovered at the scene. 1RP at 153, 2RP at 262. Police also noted a license plate, glass debris from a broken vehicle window, skid marks on the road, and a broken fence where a vehicle had gone off the road. 2RP at 256. The police determined that the license plate was from a Jeep Cherokee that belonged to Mr. Abbett. 2RP at 263.

Prior to the incident, Mr. Abbett lived with Misty Rasmussen and had two children with her. 3RP at 527. After the relationship ended in June, 2011, Ms. Rasmussen moved to a house on Stage Street in Tenino and lived with her friend, Jamie Hadley. 3RP at 529, 530. On December 22, 2011, Mr.

Abbett was living with his father on 3025 Angus Drive in Tenino. 3RP at 534. He stated that on December 22 he had a telephone conversation with Ms. Rasmussen and they were arguing and “saying some hurtful things” to each other. 3RP at 540. After the telephone call, Mr. Abbett had plans to go to a bar with two other people and was standing outside his father’s house waiting to leave. While waiting he saw a Honda Civic slowly driving on Angus Drive. The car went by his father’s house two times. 3RP at 545. Mr. Abbett then drove his Jeep Cherokee onto Angus. Once on the street, he recognized the Honda as belonging Jamie Hadley, Misty Rasmussen’s friend. 3RP at 548. Both vehicles stopped and Mr. Abbett testified that Mr. Mickelson and Mr. Lewis got out of the Honda and came toward the Jeep. He stated that Mr. Mickelson was wearing a ski mask pushed up on his head. 3RP at 552. He stated that Mr. Mickelson was carrying a baseball bat that he swung at him through the Jeep’s window and then crawled into the vehicle and hit and bit his face. 3RP at 555.

Following the incident, law enforcement went to 248 Stage Street North in Tenino, where Mr. Mickelson rented a room from Jaime Hadley. 1RP at 49. Mr. Lewis and Mr. Mickelson were at the house and both were detained and placed in separate patrol cars. 1RP at 54, 170. Mr. Mickelson

and Mr. Lewis were subsequently placed under arrest. 1RP at 174.

When questioned by police, Mr. Mickelson denied knowing Mr. Abbett, stated that he had not been to Angus Drive, that he had been at the house on Stage Street all night, and that he had not assaulted Mr. Abbett. 1RP at 179.

Misty Rasmussen, Mr. Abbett's former girlfriend, was also at the house. 1RP at 58, 59. Police obtained permission from Ms. Hadley to search her Honda Civic, which was parked in the driveway of the house. 1RP at 61, 63, 64. Deputies found blood stains in the back seat and small glass shards in the Honda. 1RP at 64, 131.

Police believed there was a second baseball bat involved and obtained a warrant to search Mr. Mickelson's room at the house, but did not find a bat. 1RP at 138.

Mr. Mickelson testified that he and Mr. Lewis were at Ms. Hadley's house on December 22, 2011, and that Misty Rasmussen was on the telephone with Mr. Abbett for a long period of time. 6RP at 1180. Mr. Lewis and Ms. Hadley then left to go to Mr. Abbett's house, and Mr. Mickelson went with them in Ms. Hadley's Honda. 6RP at 1182. Ms. Hadley drove the vehicle. While on Angus Drive a Jeep blocked the Honda

on the road. 6RP at 1185. Mr. Lewis got out of the car and then Mr. Mickelson got out and walked toward the Jeep. 6RP at 1187. The Jeep then accelerated and hit Mr. Mickelson, knocking him down. 6RP at 1187, 1191. He was afraid he would be killed by Mr. Abbett and got up and ran to the driver's side window to attempt to get the keys in order to disable the Jeep. 6RP at 1192. The Jeep moved backward so he jumped into the vehicle and fought with Mr. Abbett as the jeep was moving. He stated that he bit him once and hit him. 6RP at 1193. Mr. Mickelson heard Mr. Lewis say "cops," and he got out of the Jeep and got back in the Honda. 6RP at 1198. He stated that the Jeep chased the Honda and tried to force it off the road. Ms. Hadley was able to evade the Jeep by turning around. 6RP at 1200. They then returned to Ms. Hadley's house on Stage Street. 6RP at 1200.

Mr. Abbett sustained a laceration over his left eyebrow, laceration on his left cheek and a hairline laceration. 1RP at 104. He had glass in his ear. 1RP at 104. Mr. Abbett was hospitalized at Providence St. Peter's Hospital. 1RP at 103. Mr. Abbett told a Thurston County Sheriff that he had been assaulted by Joel Lewis and Richard Mickelson and that they had driven a Honda Civic. 1RP at 121, 123, 153.

Mr. Lewis testified that Jamie Hadley drove him over to the house on

Angus Drive in order to calm down Mr. Abbett who was upset following the telephone call with Ms. Rasmussen. 6RP at 1006. Mr. Mickelson went with them. 6RP at 1007, 1080. Mr. Lewis stated that they encountered Mr. Abbett in a Jeep, and that he and Mr. Mickelson got out of the Honda in order to talk to him. 6RP at 1014, 1015. He stated that Mr. Abbett gunned the engine and hit Mr. Mickelson with the vehicle. 6RP at 1015, 1017. Mr. Abbett's vehicle went off the road and was high-centered and unable to move. 6RP at 1023. Mr. Mickelson was stuck in the window of the Jeep and the two of them were fighting. 6RP at 1027. Mr. Lewis tried to get Mr. Mickelson out of the Jeep and broke a window in the Jeep using his elbow to free Mr. Mickelson. 6RP at 1028. He stated that Mr. Mickelson was trying to get out of the Jeep but Mr. Abbett would not let him. 6RP at 1115. Mr. Abbett continued to grab Mr. Mickelson, and he tried to separate them. 6RP at 1030. Mr. Lewis went back to the Honda and Mr. Mickelson followed him a few seconds later. 6RP at 1030. Mr. Abbett was able to get the Jeep moving again and followed the Honda for several miles. 6RP at 1032. They were able to get away from the jeep and went to Mr. Hadley's house. 6RP at 1033.

D. ARGUMENT

1. THE PROSECUTOR'S FLAGRANTLY IMPROPER AND ILL-INTENTIONED

**COMMENTS DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT
REQUIRE REVERSAL.**

- a. A prosecutor violates the bounds of fair conduct by aggressively deriding a defendant's credibility**

A prosecuting attorney's misconduct during closing argument can deny an accused his right to a fair trial as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment and Const. art. I, § 22. *State v. Monday*, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676-77, 297 P.3d 551 (2011); *State v. Belgarde*, 110 Wn.2d 504, 508, 755 P.2d 174 (1988). A prosecutor is a quasi-judicial officer, obligated to seek verdicts free of prejudice and based on reason. *State v. Charlton*, 90 Wn.2d 657, 664-65, 585 P.2d 142 (1978); *State v. Huson*, 73 Wn.2d 660, 663, 440 P.2d 192 (1968), cert. denied, 393 U.S. 1096 (1969). Consistent with their duties, prosecutors must not urge guilty verdicts on improper grounds. A prosecutor must always refrain from making statements that are not supported by the evidence. *Belgarde*, 110 Wn.2d at 507-08; *State v. Gibson*, 75 Wn.2d 174, 176, 449 P.2d 692 (1969), cert. denied, 396 U.S. 1019 (1970). As the Washington Supreme Court has said:

[T]he prosecutor represents the state, and in the interest of justice must act impartially. His trial behavior must be worthy of his office, for his misconduct may deprive the defendant of a fair trial. .

. . . We do not condemn vigor, only its misuse. . . .
No prejudicial instrument, however, will be permitted.
His zealousness should be directed to the
introduction of competent evidence.

State v. Hunson, 73 Wn.2d 660, 663, 440 P.2d 192 (1968), cert.
denied, 393 U.S. 1096 (1969); see also *State v. Reed*, 102 Wn.2d 140, 145,
684 P.2d 699 (1984).

Prosecutorial misconduct may deprive a defendant of a fair trial, and
only a fair trial is a constitutional trial. *Donnelly v. DeChrisoforo*, 416 U.S.
637, 643, 94 S.Ct. 1868, 40 L.Ed.2d 431 (1974); *State v. Davenport*, 100
Wn.2d 757, 762, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984).

Prosecutorial misconduct requires reversal when the improper
conduct is substantially likely to affect the jury's verdict. *State v. Pirtle*, 127
Wn.2d 628, 672, 904 P.2d 245 (1995). Where improper statements are not
objected to, reversal is still required when the misconduct is so flagrant and
ill-intentioned that no jury instruction would have cured the problem. 110
Wn.2d 504, 507, 755 P.2d 174 (1988).

The prosecutor's closing argument included flagrant misconduct
condemned by Washington courts. Because the errors are prejudicial, this
Court should reverse the conviction.

**b. The prosecutor wrongly argued the
defendants and defense witnesses are “the**

underbelly of society” and do not cooperate with police.

The prosecutor encouraged the jury to rely on his belief that Mr. Mickelson and defense witnesses are “the underbelly of society.” The prosecutor’s closing argument included the theory that the defendants and witnesses were not willing to cooperate with police. After discussing not only the defendants, but several defense witnesses, the State argued:

But what I am attempting to show you is that these people don’t live under the same rules of society, the same way that most of us live. They don’t think the same way that a citizen that you probably interact with a lot of lives. This is kind of the underbelly of society. I don’t mean that in a bad way. It’s just a side of society that I’d suspect that most of you don’t see very often. We see it all the time, but you don’t. So I’m trying to present that evidence to you so that you understand. These are people that don’t have jobs. They work under the table. They live hand to mouth. They are engaged in drinking all day. They get upset with one another. They fight. That is the type of people that we’re talking about.

Why did Mickelson, Lewis, Hadley he run when Mr. Lewis said, “The cops are coming”? I mean, if I heard—if I was just run over and heard “The cops are coming,” what are you going to do? Hoorah. Yes. I’m saved. I’m going to wait. Let’s see what happens.

The other part of that could be—and I won’t quarrel with this now—is that that part of society doesn’t like cops. I don’t like the cops no matter what. And that’s part of this society.

8RP 1477-78.

A prosecutor's personal beliefs or extrajudicial governmental experiences have no place in a deliberating jury's assessment of whether the State met its burden of proof. See *United States v. Brooks*, 508 F.3d 1205, 1209-10 (9 Cir. 2007) (prosecutor "threatens integrity" of conviction by indicating information not presented to jury supports government's case).

The United States Supreme Court recognized long ago that a prosecutor acts improperly by giving the personal impression of the defendant's credibility even when such an impression was invited by defense counsel. *Young*, 470 U.S. at 17; see *United States v. Cannon*, 88 F.3d 1495, 1502 (8 Cir. 1996) ("Referring to defendants as 'bad people' simply does not further the aims of justice or aid in the search for truth, and is likely to inflame bias in the jury and to result in a verdict based on something other than the evidence.").

Here, the prosecutor accused Mr. Mickelson and his witnesses of belonging to a society of not wanting to cooperate with police, being unemployed, and drinking all day. 8RP at 1477.

By doing so, the prosecutor was not asking the jury to drawn upon common sense, but upon an extrajudicial opinion asserted by the prosecutor.

The prosecutor impressed upon the jury that they should dismiss out-of-hand any statements by the criminal defendant and witnesses.

c. The prosecutor's closing argument impermissibly commented on Mr. Mickelson's constitutional right to remain silent and constitutes prosecutorial misconduct that denied him a fair trial.

A criminal defendant's right to a fair trial is denied when the prosecutor makes improper comments and there is a substantial likelihood that the comments affected the jury's verdict. *State v. Reed*, 102 Wn.2d 140, 145, 684 P.2d 699 (1984). The defense bears the burden of establishing both the impropriety and the prejudicial effect. *State v. Hoffman*, 116 Wn.2d 51, 93,804 P.2d 577 (1991).

Where a defendant fails to object to improper comments at trial, or fails to request a curative instruction, or to move for a mistrial, reversal is not always required unless the prosecutorial misconduct was so flagrant and ill intentioned that a curative instruction could not have obviated the resultant prejudice. *State v. Ziegler*, 114 Wn.2d 533, 540, 789 P.2d 79 (1990). In such a case, reversal of a conviction is required if there is a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the jury's verdict. *State v. Belgrade*, 110 Wn.2d

504, 508-10, 755 P.2d 174 (1988). During closing argument, without objection, the prosecutor stated:

Hadley never gave a statement. Mickelson never gave a statement. These witnesses never gave a statement to the police, either.

8RP at 1483.

It is undisputed that the State may not use a defendant's silence to imply guilt. *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 461, 468 n.37, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966). By arguing that Mr. Mickelson had failed to tell police that he had been hit by the Jeep and acted in self-defense, the State impermissibly used this to imply guilt and in the process commented on Mr. Mickelson's right to remain silent, which denied him a fair trial, especially given his defense that he intended no crime and acted in self defense. This Court should reject the possibility that even a precise objection or a carefully worded curative instruction would have cured the prejudicial effect of the prosecutor's actions. While this may have diluted the impact of the prosecutor's argument to some degree, it would not have neutralized it. The message was clear: Mr. Mickelson knew he was guilty of assault and thus did not tell his story to the police. This message, which the prosecutor exploited during closing argument, was fundamentally unfair and amounted to an

observation on Mr. Mickelson's failure to immediately proclaim his innocence when initially confronted by the police and provided an impermissible basis for an inference of guilt. The impact of the prosecutor's actions substantially affected the verdict, with the result that Mr. Mickelson was denied a fair trial.

d. Prosecutorial misconduct requires reversal.

The danger of prosecutorial misconduct is that it "may deprive the defendant of a fair trial. And only a fair trial is a constitutional trial." *State v. Charlton*, 90 Wn.2d 657, 665, 585 P.2d 142 (1978) (citing *State v. Case*, 49 Wn.2d 66, 298 P.2d 500 (1956)). Though individual errors may not alone be sufficient to warrant reversal, the cumulative effect of the errors may deprive a defendant of a fair trial. *State v. Jerrels*, 83 Wn.App. 503, 508, 925 P.2d 209 (1996).

Where improper statements are not objected to, reversal is still required when the misconduct is so flagrant and ill-intentioned that no jury instruction would have cured the problem. *Belgarde*, 110 Wn.2d at 507. In the case at bar, the prosecutor engaged in instances of attempting to sway the jury based on an assertion that Mr. Mickelson was part of a subculture that would not cooperate with police, as noted supra. The comments were not

objected to, but this case presents one of those rare instances where despite the lack of objection, the prosecutor's remarks so flagrantly and intentionally disregarded well-established rules of permissible conduct, that when examined together they demonstrate an unpardonable effort to secure a conviction based on improper grounds.

A defendant has the right to have his or her guilt decided upon the evidence presented, not upon the prosecutor's opinions. Moreover, this decision-making must be made in an arena free from belittling of witnesses based on their social economic status or lack of employment. The misconduct committed by the prosecutor was flagrant and ill-intentioned. Because of its rampant nature, it could not have been cured by a limiting instruction. It undermines the integrity and fairness of the proceedings and requires a new trial.

2. **MR. MICKELSON WAS PREJUDICED AS A RESULT OF HIS COUNSELS FAILURE TO OBJECT TO THE PROSECUTOR'S CLOSING ARGUMENT APPEALING TO BIAS AND THAT IMPERMISSIBLY COMMENTED ON HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT.**

A criminal defendant claiming ineffective assistance must prove (1) that the attorney's performance was deficient, i.e. that the representation fell

below an objective standard of reasonableness under the prevailing professional norms, and (2) that prejudice resulted from the deficient performance, i.e. that there is a reasonable probability that, but for the attorney's unprofessional errors,

The results of the proceedings would have been different. *State v. Early*, 70 Wn. App. 452, 460, 853 P.2d 964 (1993), review denied, 123 Wn.2d 1004 (1994); *State v. Graham*, 78 Wn. App. 44, 56, 896 P.2d 704 (1995). Competency of counsel is determined based on the entire record below. *State v. White*, 81 Wn.2d 223, 225, 500 P.2d 1242 (1972) (citing *State v. Gilmore*, 76 Wn.2d 293, 456 P.2d 344 (1969)). A reviewing court is not required to address both prongs of the test if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one prong. *State v. Tarica*, 59 Wn. App. 368, 374, 798 P.2d 296 (1990).

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