No. 43658-1-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JOEL E. LEWIS
RICHARD MICKELSON,

Appellants.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Wm. Thomas McPhee, Judge
Cause Nos. 11-1-01979-2, 11-1-01981-4

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Carol La Verne
Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W.
Olympia, Washington 98502
(360) 786-5540

A. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. Whether the deputy prosecutor's closing arguments constituted prosecutorial misconduct.
2. Whether defense counsel were ineffective for failing to object to the prosecutor's argument
3. Whether there was cumulative error.

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

The State accepts the appellants' statements of the case. There are additional facts relevant to the State's argument that will be included in the argument section below.

C. ARGUMENT.

1. Both appellants maintain that the prosecutor committed misconduct during closing arguments in several different ways. The appellants mischaracterize the State's arguments. There was no misconduct.

In this consolidated appeal, both Lewis and Mickelson claim that the prosecutor committed misconduct in closing argument in several ways. The State disagrees.

A defendant who claims prosecutorial misconduct must first establish the misconduct, and then its prejudicial effect. State v. Dhaliwal, 150 Wn.2d 559, 578, 79 P.3d 432 (2003) (citing to State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628, 672, 904 P.2d 245 (1995)). "Any allegedly improper statements should be viewed within the context of the

prosecutor's entire argument, the issues in the case, the evidence discussed in the argument, and the jury instructions." Dhaliwal, 150 Wn.2d at 578. Prejudice will be found only when there is a "substantial likelihood the instances of misconduct affected the jury's verdict." Id. A defendant's failure to object to improper arguments constitutes a waiver unless the statements are "so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it causes an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by a curative instruction to the jury." Id. The absence of an objection by defense counsel "strongly suggests to a court that the argument or event in question did not appear critically prejudicial to an appellant in the context of the trial." State v. Swan, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P.2d 610 (1990).

Rebuttal argument is treated slightly differently than the initial closing argument. Even if improper, a prosecutor's remarks are not grounds for reversal when invited or provoked by defense counsel unless they were not a pertinent reply or were so prejudicial that a curative instruction would be ineffective. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994) "Reversal is not required if the error could have been obviated by a curative instruction which the defense did not request." Id., at 85. While it is

true that a prosecutor must act in a manner worthy of his office, a prosecutor is an advocate and entitled to make a fair response to a defense counsel's arguments. *Id.*, at 87. See also State v. Dykstra, 127 Wn. App. 1, 8, 110 P.3d 758 (2005). A prosecutor has a duty to advocate the State's case against an individual. State v. James, 104 Wn. App. 25, 34, 15 P.3d 1041 (2000). It is not error for the prosecutor to argue that the evidence does not support the defense theory. State v. Graham, 59 Wn. App. 418, 429, 798 P.2d 314 (1990). A prosecutor's use of the words "I think" and "I believe" in closing argument does not necessarily indicate misconduct. State v. Hoffman, 116 Wn.2d 51, 93, 804 P.2d 577 (1991).

A prosecutor has wide latitude in closing argument to draw reasonable inferences from the evidence. State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 565, 940 P.2d 546 (1997), *cert. denied*, 523 U.S. 1007, 140 L. Ed. 2d 322, 118 S. Ct. 1192 (1998). It is not misconduct to argue facts in evidence and suggest reasonable inferences from them. Unless he unmistakably expresses a personal opinion, there is no error. Spokane County v. Bates, 96 Wn. App. 893, 901, 982 P.2d 642 (1999). A prosecutor may comment on the veracity of a witness as long as he does not express a personal opinion or argue

facts not in the record. State v. Smith, 104 Wn.2d 497, 510-11, 707 P.2d 1306 (1985).

a. Attacks on the credibility of the defendants.

Both appellants take issue with certain language of the prosecutor during rebuttal argument. Closing arguments in this trial were lengthy. The prosecutor's initial closing argument took 44 minutes and covered 30 pages of transcript. Lewis's CP 20, RP 1376-1401, 1406-10.¹ The closing argument for Lewis took 47 minutes, Mickelson's 44 minutes, Lewis's CP 20; Lewis's argument is at RP 1412-38 and Mickelson's is at RP 1439-69. The State rebuttal was another 25 minutes. Lewis's CP 21, RP 1470-86.

Both appellants object to the prosecutor's "underbelly of society" remark. Mickelson's Opening Brief at 10-11, Lewis's Opening Brief at 14-15. Mickelson complains that the prosecutor was stating a personal opinion, Lewis that he argued facts not in evidence. In context, that portion of the prosecutor's argument is as follows.

Here're some questions. And these are, I think, the rudimentary questions that you should consider in this case. Why did these three people go over there at 12:00 a.m.? Counsel has just said that I

¹ All references to the Verbatim Report of Proceedings, unless otherwise noted, are to the eight-volume, sequentially paginated trial transcript.

must be disparaging these people because they don't have jobs and live in Tenino. Is that what I was doing? That's for you to decide.

But what I am attempting to show you is that these people don't live under the same rules of society, the same way that most of us live. They don't think the same way that a citizen that you probably interact with a lot lives. This is kind of the underbelly of society. I don't mean that in a bad way. It's just a side of society that I'd suspect that most of you don't see very often. We see it all the time, but you don't. So I'm trying to present that evidence to you so that you understand.

These are people that don't have jobs. They work under the table. They live hand to mouth. They are engaged in drinking all day. They get upset with one another. They fight. That is the type of people we're talking about.

Why did Mickelson, Lewis, Hadley he (sic) run when Mr. Lewis said "The cops are coming"? I mean, if I heard—if I was just run over and heard "The cops are coming," what are you going to do? Hoorah. Yes, I'm saved. I'm going to wait. Let's see what happens.

The other part of that could be—and I won't quarrel with this now—is that that part of society doesn't like cops. I don't like the cops no matter what. And that's this part of society.

RP 1477-78.

Neither Lewis nor Mickelson claims that anything the prosecutor said was untrue. The victim, Nathaniel Abbett, had worked in Leavenworth for two and a half months in the summer of 2011. RP 528-29. Otherwise he did not work. RP 761. Lewis worked odd jobs under the table, RP 1043, 1050, and he lived with

Hadley rent-free. RP 757-58, 993-94. Lewis said that Mickelson also worked odd jobs, RP 1049. Mickelson himself said he was collecting unemployment in December of 2011. RP 1344. Neither was working at the time of the assault in December of 2011. RP 760. Lewis had previously lived rent free with Abbett and Rasmussen. RP 1060. Mickelson paid rent in the amount of \$100 to \$300 a month, or whatever he could afford. RP 1229. Hadley was collecting unemployment. RP 1049. Of the people living in the Stage Street address, only Rasmussen had a job. RP 1050.

The defendants' social lives involved alcohol. RP 1064. Before they left the house the night of the assault Mickelson had one to one and a half beers, and Lewis drank a beer or two. RP 794, 1049. Lewis drank on a nearly-daily basis and on the 22nd of December, 2011, began drinking between 7:00 and 8:00 p.m., possibly earlier. RP 994, 1044. Mickelson testified his drinking day began around 5:00 to 6:00 p.m., he had had two or three beers during the day, and was buzzed but not drunk on the night of the assault. RP 1233-34, 1236. Deputy Steve Hamilton, who took Mickelson to jail in the early morning hours of December 23, described him as highly intoxicated; he testified that Mickelson passed out while Hamilton was talking to him. RP 180.

The household kept unusual hours. It was not uncommon for people to stop in at Hadley's residence, where both defendants lived, at two o'clock in the morning on a Thursday. RP 816.

The altercation between Abbett, Lewis, and Mickelson ended when Lewis yelled that the cops were coming. Lewis testified that he made this statement because yelling "stop" wasn't working. RP 1162-63, 1198-99. Hadley and the defendants left the scene, RP 787, and none of them contacted the police. When the police did arrive later, Hadley not only gave false statements to the officers but declined to contact law enforcement between that time and the time of trial to give accurate information. RP 768-69, 776-77. Mickelson, who was released from prison less than ten years before trial, for second degree assault, RP 1310-11, 1317, testified that he wouldn't "necessarily" say that snitches were disliked in his circles. RP 1315. Lewis had three felony convictions in the ten years before the trial. RP 1156-57.

There was ample evidence that the people involved had disputes. Abbett and Rasmussen clearly had their problems. RP 333, 337, 540. Lewis and Kuntz had a falling out. RP 691. Lewis and Mickelson had a major fight with Abbett, the subject of the criminal charges.

The record, therefore, supported the statements of the prosecutor. Contrary to Lewis's assertion, the prosecutor did not simply refer to the defendants as bad people. He was explaining why the jury should consider their lifestyle in determining their credibility. People who live the lifestyle of the people residing in the Stage Street address would be very likely to do the things the State alleged the defendants did. People who live a more mainstream lifestyle, presumably that lived by the jurors, would not behave in such a manner. A prosecutor has the right to argue reasonable inferences from the evidence.

Further, this was rebuttal in direct response to the defendants' arguments. "Counsel has just said that I must be disparaging these people because they don't have jobs and live in Tenino." RP 1477. Following are some examples from Mickelson's counsel's closing argument.

[The prosecutor] is going to try his best after I sit down using drama, using name calling, trying to pull rabbits out of his hat from this other evidence, to make you believe that you must believe Nate Abbett. It simply isn't there.

RP 1445.

I'm going to ask you to not excuse the lies of the accuser in this case.

RP 1445-46.

The entire State's case, in light of the overwhelming evidence that Mr. Abbett was a liar and lied to you here and lied to the police about this, the State is attempting to overcome by engaging in some kind of hyper-geometry using chairs and using spontaneous handwritten drawings from witnesses in the witness stand.

RP 1447.

You know, the burden of proof is squarely upon the State. And it's really interesting to hear how smoothly and how casually [the prosecutor] can kind of, sort of pull that to the side for you.

RP 1449.

The only person denying it happened that way is Nate Abbett, a known liar, because of the evidence of it in this case that's been brought forth to you.

RP 1456.

So, you know, out of—what?—six, eight people from Tenino that have testified, you know, several have had felonies. That must mean the whole town lies, you know? And if they don't live in nice places, you know, where everybody has jobs, you know, they—why does it matter who has a regular job at Jaime Hadley's house? Why does that matter? Why is the prosecutor asking you to listen to those kinds of questions, when all you have is one liar who comes in and just a bunch of pictures. You're not left with much to meet your burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. That is why.

RP 1459.

Why is [Abbett] lying to you?

RP 1462.

[The prosecutor] can jump up and down and scream all he wants, but who admitted to being a liar? Well, Nathan Abbett admitted to that. . . One of the hardest things to have happen in the criminal justice system is to pin the tail on the liar. That is really difficult. But you don't have to worry about that.

RP 1464.

Well, [the prosecutor] wants you to obviously have the same emotional reaction to this that Jesse Eubanks did.

RP 1465.

You don't need to engage in geometric hi jinks and speculate about angles and all of that. That's what the State is forced to do because that is the best the evidence gets for them.

RP 1469.

While Lewis's counsel also called the victim a liar a number of times, RP 1422, 1423, 1426, 1427, 1430, 1432, 1434, he did not make his argument a personal attack against the prosecutor as did Mickelson's counsel. Arguments claimed to be improper are reviewed in the context of the total argument, the issues, the evidence addressed, and the instructions given the jury. Graham, 59 Wn. App. at 428; State v. Green, 46 Wn. App. 92, 96, 730 P.2d 1350 (1986). "Remarks of the prosecutor, even if they are

improper, are not grounds for reversal if they were invited or provoked by defense counsel and are in reply to his or her acts and statements, unless the remarks are not a pertinent reply or are so prejudicial that a curative instruction would be ineffective. “ Russell, 125 Wn.2d at 85-86.

The argument complained of here was in direct response to Mickelson’s closing argument. “[W]hy does it matter who has a regular job at Jaime Hadley’s house? Why does that matter? Why is the prosecutor asking you to listen to those kinds of questions?” RP 1459 It did not refer to facts not in evidence and was not an attempt to smear the defendants’ characters. It was an explanation to the jury of the mindset of the defendants and their friends, in an effort to convey that their actions made sense in their world. It was not improper, and certainly not reversible. Neither defendant objected to the comments now challenged. Mickelson’s counsel objected at another point during the State’s rebuttal, RP 1476, but not to this part of the argument. The comments would not be likely to cause a jury to ignore the evidence, disregard the jury instructions, and abandon its common sense to convict the defendants just because they didn’t have jobs, or they drank beer, or they fought. It was entirely proper for the prosecutor to address

the credibility of the defendants. There was no error. Even if it were, common sense tells us a curative instruction would have reminded the jury of their duty to decide on the facts, not sympathy or prejudice, and would not have been useless.

Mickelson also claims that the prosecutor's comments were somehow an "extrajudicial opinion." Mickelson's Opening Brief at 12. It is unclear how this can be an individual opinion of the prosecutor as opposed to pointing out the obvious differences between the lifestyles of the defendants and their associates and those of mainstream society. While the State does not dispute that a prosecutor may not put forth his personal opinions as the guilt of the defendants, the challenged remarks are simply not personal opinions.

b. Comment on right to remain silent.

Both appellants claim that the prosecutor impermissibly commented on their right to remain silent. Lewis's Opening Brief at 9-11, Mickelson's Opening Brief at 13-15. That is not correct. Mickelson at least did not assert his right to remain silent, he did in fact speak to the police, and the prosecutor properly commented on what he said as well as the fact that he said something entirely different on the witness stand. The record is silent as to Lewis's

post-arrest conduct, but on the stand he told the same story that Mickelson and Hadley did.

Deputy Steve Hamilton detained Mickelson at approximately 2:39 a.m. on December 23, 2011, and read him the Miranda² warnings. RP 178, 184. Mickelson was willing to talk to Hamilton. RP 178-79. He told Hamilton that he did not know a Nathaniel Abbett, denied assaulting him, said he had not left the Stage Street address the entire evening, and claimed to have been sleeping the entire night. RP 179-81, 236. He did not tell Hamilton that he had been hit by a car and did not complain of any injuries. RP 181.

After arresting Mickelson, Hamilton then detained Lewis. RP 170. Both were placed under arrest, RP 174, both were placed into Hamilton's patrol car, and both were taken to the Thurston County Jail. RP 182. It was Hamilton's observation that Mickelson was highly intoxicated and was passing out or going to sleep while speaking with Hamilton. RP 180. On cross-examination, counsel for Mickelson asked Hamilton if Mickelson had the right not to speak to him, and Hamilton replied, "Absolutely. And I—but he wasn't saying, necessarily, that." RP 223. On re-

² Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966)

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